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Figure 26: Document created by the SCS Sales Manager in an effort to make the Consultancy 
Agreement with “Chhounou Kimchenda” appear legitimate, 05 July 2010  
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Figure 31: Email from SCS Sales Manager to CNM Director requesting an official letter for a visit 
to provide a gift to CNM Director’s daughter, 27 July 2009  
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Figure 33: Email from CNM Director to SCS Sales Manager regarding a gift to the Secretary of 
State under MoH Cambodia, 23 September 2009  
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Figure 38: Email from SCS Sales Manager to Sumitomo Managing Director about sponsoring 
lunches for CNM’s annual Malaria conference, 01 April 2008  
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Figure 39: Table of SCS-financed trips, allowances, transportation and sponsorships for CNM 
employees and other Cambodian government officials 

Recipient Description of 

Service 

Date of Service Total Value (S$) Total Value (USD) 

[Approximate value 

when original 

amount paid in S$] 

Director, CNM Airfare for visit to 

Singapore and 

Malaysia for meeting 

with Sumitomo 

Managing Director 

27 July –  01 Aug 2004 - 1,070.00* 

Director, CNM Daily allowance for 

visit to Malaysia and 

Singapore 

27 July –  01 Aug 2004 360  211.385 

Director, CNM Airfare for personal 

medical visit to 

Singapore 

 

 

21 -22 October 2005 - 415.00 

Director, CNM Accommodation for 

personal medical 

visit to Singapore 

21-22 October 2005 - UNK* 

 

-Director, CNM; 

-Governor of Siem 

Reap 

All travel expenses 

to Siem Reap for 

conference on Olyset 

nets and insecticide 

10-13 March 2006 - UNK* 

 

Director, CNM Accommodation for 

personal medical 

visit to Singapore 

June  2006 - UNK* 

                                                        
5 www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 15 July 2004. 
*For all entries included in this chart, the OIG has obtained proof of payment information, unless otherwise marked 
with a *, in which case the OIG has written correspondence describing the request and/or agreement to pay costs.  
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Recipient Description of 

Service 

Date of Service Total Value (S$) Total Value (USD) 

[Approximate value 

when original 

amount paid in S$] 

-Director, CNM; 

-Director’s 

Nephew and 

Deputy Director, 

CNM                

Airfare and airport 

tax for two people to 

Singapore 

12-14 July 2006 - 456.00  

Director, CNM Sponsorship  of a 

dinner party during a 

National Malaria 

Conference 

09-11 April 2007 - 1,500.00 

Director, CNM Luxury Tour in 

Singapore for CNM 

director and his 

family (7 people) 

12–16 May 2007 948 625.366 

Chief of 

Procurement, 

CNM 

Sponsorship  to 

attend American 

Society of Tropical 

Medicine conference 

in Philadelphia 

04–08 November 2007 - 1,600.00 

CNM Sponsorship for 

dinner at ACT Malaria 

Asian Collaborative 

Training Network 

18-19 March 2008 - 1,750.00 

-Head of Health 

Education, CNM 

-Accountant 

-Village Malaria 

Worker Project, 

Team  

-Unknown Person 

Package tour for two 

(out of four listed) 

people to Malaysia. 

28 March – 02 April 

2008 

338 (or 235x2) 245.117* 

                                                        
6 www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 15 May 2007. 
7  www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 02 April 2008. 
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Recipient Description of 

Service 

Date of Service Total Value (S$) Total Value (USD) 

[Approximate value 

when original 

amount paid in S$] 

CNM Sponsorship for 

National Centre for 

Parasitology 

Conference, 200 

lunches. 

08-09 April 2008 - 1,200.00 

Chief of 

Technical Bureau, 

CNM 

Airfare (for Chief of 

Tech. Bureau and 

his wife) and Daily 

Allowance for visit to 

Singapore 

04-06 June 2008 1660 1215.178 

Deputy Chief, 

Technical Bureau, 

CNM 

Accommodation  for 

personal medical 

visit in Singapore 

18-20 August 2008 640 452.179* 

Deputy Director, 

CNM 

Accommodation  for 

visit to Singapore  

17-18 and 20-21 

September 2008 

640 447.8210* 

Director, CNM Accommodation  for 

visit to Singapore 

17-18 and 20-21 

September 2008 

640 447.8211* 

-Procurement 

Officer, MoH 

-Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

Partial payment for 

accommodation for 

7 nights for short 

course procurement 

training 

11–18 October 2009  160.6512* 

-Chief of 

Procurement, 

CNM;  

-Procurement 

Assistant, CNM 

Partial payment for 

accommodation for 

7 nights for short 

course procurement 

training 

11–18 October 2009  160.6513* 

                                                        
8  www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 30 May 2008. 
9   www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 20 August 2008. 
10  www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 21 September 2008. 
11   Ibid. 
12 In this case, Sumitomo agreed to pay for anything above 70 USD per night. The hotel was quoted at S$ 129.47 per 
night. S$ 129.47 = USD 92.95 (www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 18 October 2009). For each room, Sumitomo 
paid a difference of USD 22.95 for 7 nights (USD 160.65) 
13 Ibid. 
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Recipient Description of 

Service 

Date of Service Total Value (S$) Total Value (USD) 

[Approximate value 

when original 

amount paid in S$] 

-Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

-Sr. Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

Partial payment for 

accommodation for 

7 nights for short 

course procurement 

training 

11–18 October 2009  160.6514* 

- Procurement 

Officer, MoH 

-Procurement 

Officer, CNM  

-Chief of 

Procurement, 

CNM 

-Procurement 

Assistant, CNM 

-Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

-Sr. Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

Minibus Service from 

the airport  

to the hotel  

11 October 2009 - UNK* 

                                                        
14 Ibid. 
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Recipient Description of 

Service 

Date of Service Total Value (S$) Total Value (USD) 

[Approximate value 

when original 

amount paid in S$] 

-Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

- Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

-Chief of 

Procurement, 

CNM 

-Procurement 

Assistant, CNM 

-Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

-Sr. Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

-Daughter of CNM 

Director 

Luxury Night Safari 

Tour  during 

procurement training 

in Singapore 

11 October 2009 277 198.0715 

WHO Cambodia 

Employee 

Remittance for 

Emerging Infectious 

Diseases Conference 

09 December 2009 2769.05 1990.2616* 

CNM Sponsorship for end 

of the year annual 

dinner for CNM 

17 December 2009 - 1,500.00 

Chief of 

Procurement, 

CNM 

Sponsorship  to 

attend a Malaria 

Seminar in London, 

including airfare and 

accommodation 

22-23 April 2010 - 3,140.00 

                                                        
15 www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 11 October 2009. 
16 www.oanda.com, conversion rate as of 09 December 2009. 
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Recipient Description of 

Service 

Date of Service Total Value (S$) Total Value (USD) 

[Approximate value 

when original 

amount paid in S$] 

Procurement 

Officer, CNM 

Sponsorship (airfare 

and accommodation 

for 4 days) to attend 

Workshop on Quality 

clinic Research 

Application in China 

17 -18 June 2010 - 1,500.00* 

    20,446.11 
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Figure 44: Email communication between CNM Director, SCS Sales Manager, Sumitomo 
Managing Director and  SCS senior manager about competitor prices, 07-11 April 2008  
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Figure 45: Email communication in which CNM Deputy Director improperly shares advance 
information regarding tender requirements with SCS Sales Manager, 19 January 2009  
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Figure 48: Email communication between CNM Director and VF Sales Manager providing 
“Chhou Nou Kimchenda” bank account details, 16-23 February 2007  
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Figure 50: Table of commission payment wire transfers from VF to “Chhou Nou Kimchenda” 
and “  Capital Limited” for Global Fund contracts 
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Figure 52: Booking details for USD 83,054 VF commission payment to “Kim Nou Chounoa”, 02 
February 2012  
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Figure 53: VF request to change beneficiary name from “Kim Nou Chounoa” to “  Capital 
Limited” for $83,054 commission payment, 13 February 2012  
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Figure 72: Two versions of employment contract for Staff Member B for different staff positions, dated 1 October 2008 and 1 September 
2008, respectively 
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Figure 74: Two different employment contracts for same employee during same time period (1 
January 2009)18 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
18 Two Microsoft Word documents found on MEDiCAM officials’ computer. [full path names: 
OIG00120_S02\OIG00120_S02\Medicam\Office & Personnel\Personnel\Contracts\MECB Manager ([Staff 
Member C] GFR7).doc; OIG00120_S02\OIG00120_S02\Medicam\Office & Personnel\Personnel\Contracts\MECB 
Manager (Staff Member C).doc] 
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ANNEX 2: OIG Response to CNM’s Comments on Cambodia Investigation Report 

 CNM comments and/or suggestions for amendment (08 October 
2012) 

OIG Response 

1 a. The current CNM Director was legally nominated by the Royal Government of 
Cambodia as Director of CNM on 11 May 2011, and officially took office on 06 May 
2011, replacing the former CNM Director who left on retirement on 01 May 2011. 
The Global Fund Secretariat was officially notified by the Ministry of Health on 11 
May 2011. 
 
b. Prior to 06 May 2011, the current CNM Director did not work at CNM and never 
had any close personal relationship with the former CNM Director. After the 06 
May 2011, the former CNM Director did not have any influence on CNM as CNM 
never engaged him for any services after he retired and never shared information 
on the procurement processes.  

a. Accepted 
 
b. The OIG learned that post-“retirement”, the former CNM Director 
continued to use a CNM email account, continued to maintain his physical 
office, and received confidential bidding information via email from VPP 
agent PSI related to contracts for bednets.  OIG maintains these actions 
demonstrate a clear connection between the then-former CNM Director and 
CNM’s ongoing business activities, which CNM as an institution tolerated. 

2 Any communication between the suppliers including SCS, VF, VPP, and PSI with 
the former CNM Director after 1 May 2011 cannot be considered as CNM’s 
communication. 

The OIG refers to its response in line 1.  Moreover, the investigation 
uncovered that other CNM employees were copied on emails sent to the 
former CNM Director; therefore, CNM had the opportunity to know its 
former Director was still being provided with sensitive and confidential 
procurement information.  

3 The OIG investigation of CNM and/or OIG disclosure of information related to 
agreements between CNM and other signatory parties other than the Global Fund 
and/or the PR-MoH is considered as an act of violation of CNM sovereignty.  

 

The draft OIG report has gone outside the boundaries of the PGAs and MoAs. 
CNM strongly suggests that the investigation should stay within the relevant PGAs 
and MoAs.  

Moreover, CNM has no any legal obligation with the MoA between the PR-MOH 
and recipients other than CNM such as the PSI in Cambodia. 

OIG was careful to include only Global Fund-financed contracts in its 
analysis of the corrupt scheme to obtain contracts by paying commissions to 
CNM officials.  With respect to contracts between MoH and other SRs in 
Cambodia (i.e. PSI) who received bednet products, this information is 
relevant and included in the report because CNM’s Director received 
improper commissions in connection with those contracts.   
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 CNM comments and/or suggestions for amendment (08 October 
2012) 

OIG Response 

4  

 
The total contract amount of these contracts is around USD 4.85 million. CNM 
disclaims these contracts for one or more of the reasons below:  

1.  The contracts do not fall within the legal boundary of the PGAs or MoAs which 
CNM has with the Global Fund.  For instance, the contracts with invoice numbers 
SI0207, SI02725 and SI20170 are outside the scope of these PGAs or MoAs which 
CNM had with the Global Fund and CNM was not the procurement agent. 

2.  CNM was not involved in the procurement of any of these contracts.  The OIG 
imposed the entire allegation onto CNM, but according to the OIG draft report, 
CNM assumes that PSI in Cambodia is a sub-recipient and the procurement agency 
for contracts related with these invoices.   Currently, CNM has no legal right to 
investigate these invoices as CNM understands that PSI is a private organization 
with “its own sovereignty completely independent from CNM”.  

3.  In the case where an individual staff gets commission payment from a supplier, 
CNM considers this as a “personal affair” rather than an act on behalf of “CNM as 
an organization”.  CNM’s understanding is that the personal deal or relationship of 
any individual staff of CNM outside CNM’s management is not the responsibility 
of CNM. Similarly, the aforementioned three invoices (SI0207, SI02725 and 
SI20170) have nothing to do with CNM.  The allegation related with these three 
invoices cannot be associated with CNM as an “organization” but I think that it is 
the SOLE responsibility of PSI and the CNM Director as an individual operating 
outside CNM management.  

1 & 2.  See OIG Response line 3 regarding the inclusion of commissions for 
contracts for bednets provided to PSI. 
 
3.  CNM is responsible for the actions taken by officers acting in their 
official capacity on matters such as procurements.  These officers used their 
positions to facilitate contracts and improperly influence the competitive 
procurements of bednets in Cambodia.  With respect to contracts where PSI 
was the recipient, the fact that the CNM Director received a commission for 
this contract suggests his involvement in some capacity and highlights the 
influence he had in the health sector in Cambodia. 
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 CNM comments and/or suggestions for amendment (08 October 
2012) 

OIG Response 

5 Table C: Contract related with commission payment after 11 May 2011 that CNM 
has no responsibility for 

 

The total amount of these contracts is around 9.82 million USD.  

CNM has nothing to do with the alleged commission payment related with five 
contracts as listed on the Table C as because of one or more of the following 
reasons: 

1. CNM was not the procurement agent for these contracts.  
2. The OIG uncovered no evidence to indicate that Sumitomo Chemical 

Singapore (SCS) continued to make improper commission payments to 
CNM from 11 May 2011 onwards. 

3. The alleged commission payments were made by Vestergaard Frandsen 
(VF) to the CNM Director who has had no responsibility or representation 
of CNM since 01 May 2011.  

1.  The OIG does not dispute that CNM was not the procurement agent for 
the contracts listed in Table C.  However, CNM’s Director and Deputy 
Director received commission payments under 3 of the 5 transactions listed. 
2.  OIG does not dispute the fact that there is no evidence to indicate SCS 
continued to pay improper commission payments under VPP. 
3.  See OIG report Section G.1.4.11 addressing this point. 

6 The OIG does not present concrete evidence to confirm all the ultimate 
beneficiaries of commission payments as the amounts of the alleged commission 
payments seem to be based on the email communications between suppliers and 
the former Director and Deputy Director of CNM, and interviews with the 
suppliers. However, the alleged commission payments were transferred to 
intermediate bank accounts held by other persons rather than the Director and 
Deputy Director. 

Paragraph number 138 states “where the payment is ended up is unclear”: This 
statement should be mentioned in the Chapter G.1.5 (conclusions) of the report, 
rather than only in the Section “Facts and documentary evidence”, if it refers 
alleged commission payments related with CNM.  
 

1.  The OIG maintains that the evidence in the report clearly demonstrates 
that the commission payments went to agent “Chhounou Kimchenda” only 
as a cover to disguise the true path of money back to the CNM officials.  This 
is a reasonable inference based on the evidence, including direct 
communication from both CNM officials to have the Suppliers wire 
commission payments to their bank accounts.   Also, there is a complete 
absence of evidence that anyone ever communicated with the agent.  
Finally, the fact that the Director and Deputy Director reached out to the 
Suppliers to personally inquire about late or misdirected commission 
payments is further evidence of their personal connection to the 
commission payments. 
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 CNM comments and/or suggestions for amendment (08 October 
2012) 

OIG Response 

7 Some offerings are just humanitarian (hospital fees) and/or cultural (Khmer New 
Year Gifts) and the other offerings were made in the spirit of public private 
partnership (PPP) as a mean to achieve the Millennium Development Goals 
(MDGs). These acts of partnership have significantly increased in aid management.  

CNM was recently informed by WHO that that since January 2012 three major 
contributions to the fight against neglected tropical diseases amenable to 
preventive chemotherapy have been made by three private companies:  

(1) The 1st company has committed to provide up to 2.2 billion tablets of 
diethylcarbamazine citrate (DEC) 100mg between 2013 and 2020, to be used 
against lymphatic filariasis. 100 million tablets will be donated in 2013;  

(2) The 2nd company has committed to provide up to 200 million tablets of 
mebendazole 500mg per year, to be used against soil-transmitted helminthiasis 
in children of school age;  

(3) The 3rd company has committed to donate up to 250 million tablets of 
praziquantel  600mg per year, to be used against schistosomiasis in children of 
school age. 50 million tablets will be donated in 2013, 75 million in 2014, 100 
million in 2015, and 250 million/year from 2016 onwards. 

The OIG does not agree with CNM’s position on offering “fellowships” or 
meals.  Further, CNM’s reliance on examples in which companies donated 
medicine in the fight against tropical disease is misplaced.  In this report, 
the OIG provides numerous examples of gifts and trips, often having no 
connection to legitimate business purposes, from the Suppliers to CNM 
officials.  Such offerings are against the Codes of Ethics and Business 
Conduct Principles that both Suppliers have, which recognize that the 
giving of such gratuities could be seen as an attempt to obtain influence or 
gain other preferential treatment. 

8 The VPP agent PSI continued to share information on procurements with the 
former CNM Director for at least 110 days after 11 May 2011.   

CNM identified three serious mistakes made by the Global Fund’s VPP agent where 
information regarding the bidding process was illegally leaked to the former CNM 
Director.  

1. On 18 May 2011, the VPP agent leaked the information of Bid Opening 
Report, Evaluation, and Narrative report [Grant No. CAM-S10-G14-M (CNM) 
and CAM-607-G10-M (MoH)] to the former CNM Director. After having such 
information, it would seem that the former Director then forwarded it to VF. 

2. On 15 Aug 2011, the VPP agent leaked the information of a comprehensive 
update on two purchase orders [No. 0975A-ITN-VPP-0035 (CNM), and 
0975B-ITN-VPP-0035 (MoH)]. It would seem that the former CNM Director 
then forwarded it to VF. 

3. The VPP agent “continued to leak” the information of a comprehensive 
update on 06 Sep 2011 on two purchase orders [No. 0975A-ITN-VPP-0035 
(CNM), and 0975B-ITN-VPP-0035 (MoH)].  

OIG agrees that it was a mistake for the VPP agent to continue sending 
emails to the CNM Director after his retirement.  See OIG report ¶ 246 for 
further discussion. 
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 CNM comments and/or suggestions for amendment (08 October 
2012) 

OIG Response 

9 The VPP agent was very well informed about the change the Director of CNM and 
PR-CNM as: 

1. CNM procurement staff sent at least two emails reminding the VPP agent 
that the former CNM Director had retired and that there was no need to 
share any information with him anymore. 

2. The ceremony of handing-over of position of CNM director was publicly 
held on the 06 May 2011 with participation from CNM staff and relevant 
development partners and media agencies. Information on the change was 
uploaded to CNM website: 
http://www.cnm.gov.kh/index.php?action=ID40. 

3. Since the 11 May 2011, the current CNM Director’s email address was 
reflected in the cc field of the VPP agent’s emails which were sent to CNM 
Procurement staff (except for one on 22 June 2011 when the VPP agent 
sent an email concerning the bid evaluation directly addressed to the 
current CNM Director). 

CNM strongly suspects that this repeated sharing of information by the VPP agent 
with the former CNM’s Director could be a deliberate violation of procurement 
procedures/rules, and recommends the OIG to fully investigate the VPP agent 
before the investigation report. 

While OIG concurs that it was a mistake for the VPP agent to continue 
sending emails to the CNM Director, OIG makes no finding that this 
mistake was deliberate on the part of PSI.  It seems that some PSI 
employees were aware of the change in command, though, because a PSI 
employee sent an email to the current, and not the former, CNM Director 
on 11 May 2011. 
 
Although CNM claims that it sent multiple reminders of the former 
Director’s retirement to VPP after 1 May 2011, CNM could not provide OIG 
with any email examples where CNM staff reminded PSI about the former 
Director’s retirement before 29 September 2011.  CNM’s Chief of 
Procurement testified that she informed VPP of this fact “many times 
sin[c]e May 2011” but did not have the capacity to recover those emails. 
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ANNEX 3: OIG Response to SCS Comments on Cambodia Investigation Report 

 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
1 1. If the term "supplier" in paragraph 59 refers to SCS rather than to the Sales 

Manager, it is incorrect to state that the supplier knew that it could not pay 
cash to CNM in order to win contracts, as at that juncture, no one else apart 
from the Sales Manager and the SCS General Manager (defined below) knew 
about the arrangement with the CNM Director. Whilst there may be a 
divergence between US law and Singapore law, under Singapore law (and the 
common law) principles of attribution of liability to a company, the general 
rule is that for criminal actions such as the payment of kickbacks, an 
employee must be the “controlling” or “directing mind and will” of the 
company for such criminal actions to be attributed to the company and for the 
company to be held liable in equal measure. Given the Sales Manager's 
relatively low rank in SCS, his intentions and conduct should not be attributed 
to SCS as he cannot be considered to be the controlling or directing mind and 
will of the company.  

2. The reference to "senior managers" should be changed to the Sales 
Manager and the SCS General Manager for accuracy's sake and for 
consistency in terminology. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.  The OIG report attributes knowledge of the inability to 
make cash payments to CNM to the employee, the SCS Sales 
Manager, not the company as a whole. 

OIG makes no criminal findings in its report, nor does it 
evaluate its findings against criminal evidentiary legal 
standards.  The OIG report findings are based on the 
contractual relationship between the SR/PR and the 
Suppliers.  Therefore, the analysis of how criminal law 
addresses the notion of the “controlling mind” is 
inapplicable in this context. 

2. Regarding the reference to the SCS Sales Manager and 
Managing Director as “senior managers”, both individuals 
represented to the OIG that they were upper-level 
management and the length and nature of their employment 
supports this designation.  On August 17, 2012, the SCS Sales 
Manager stated that he has been with the company since 
1990 and was presently at the level of second class (out of 
three) manager.  (17/8/12 ROC 3). He stated that he did not 
need to seek approval for hiring a technical consultant in 
Cambodia as he’d been a manager for over 12 years and 
people did not question his decision.  (17/8/12 ROC ¶3,4, 22) 
(He subsequently clarified that he needed authority to 
execute such an agreement, 20/10/12 ROC ¶11).  He was in 
charge of the Vector Control Staff at SCS.  (17/8/12 ROC ¶5).  
Further, he signed the consultancy contract on behalf of and 
with the authority of the company.  The SCS Sales Manager 
reports directly to the Regional Director and Head of the 
Crop Sciences Sector based in Singapore and the Managing 
Director for the Research and Development in Malaysia. 



Investigation of Global Fund Grants to Cambodia: GF-OIG-13-050 
 

                            Page 2 of 7 
 

 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
  The SCS Managing Director joined Sumitomo in 2001 and 

manages a research facility of 30 people.  (19/10/12 
Managing Director ROC ¶2,4). He is the Business Head of 
the Environmental Health and Vector Control Division and 
is fully empowered to run their respective businesses.  
(19/10/13 Director of Health and Crop Sciences ROC ¶5, 6).  
He reports directly to the Regional Director and Head of the 
Crop Sciences Sector.  (19/10/12 Managing Director ROC 
¶68).   

2 1. The two VPP contracts in 2011 should be removed as commission payments 
ceased once VPP was enacted.  

2. OIG should add that SCS paid commissions based on forged documents 
submitted by the Sales Manager. 

1.  The correct value of the contracts at issue is $4,627,472 
(total value of contracts obtained, less 2011 VPP contracts).  
See OIG response line 17 for further explanation concerning 
a dispute over the value of a June 2010 contract.  The OIG 
does not agree to remove reference to the 2011 contracts 
entered into under VPP as they were contracts in which 
Sumitomo company provided bednets to CNM during the 
relevant timeframe covered by this investigation as these 
contracts fall within the time period examined by OIG 
during its investigation.  Moreover, it is relevant that SCS 
ceased making commission payments to CNM’s Director 
once VPP took effect.   

2.  While it is true that SCS paid commission payments 
pursuant to the consultancy contract that the SCS Sales 
Manager admitted to forging the signature on, it is not clear 
to the OIG that this was the only basis for the payments, as 
there were oral and written representations made by SCS 
senior managers as described in the OIG report concerning 
these commission payments.   It is noteworthy that the 
terms of the consultancy agreement were not strictly 
adhered to either, such as the required reports of market 
information, product development work, or performance 
and financial reports (Consultancy Agreement, dated 1 
January 2006, Art.1), yet commission payments were made 
nonetheless.  See OIG report Section G.1.4.3. 
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 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
3 SCS did not make the improper commission payments knowingly. It was 

orchestrated by the Sales Manager. Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 
above. 

SCS had full knowledge of where the commission payments 
were being wired as said payments were processed through 
the appropriate channels by the Finance and Accounting 
Department.   

4 We understand that the Sales Manager’s gifts and favors were given to 
develop a close relationship with the CNM officials and there is no evidence to 
suggest that he was incentivized by the inside information from the CNM 
officials, or that he had given gifts and favors in return for inside information. 
Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 above. 

See OIG report Section G.1.4.5 regarding the connection 
between gifts and favors and the receipt of inside 
information.   

5 1. SCS was established and incorporated on 15 July 1996. Please see the 
official website of SCS: http://www.scschem. com.sg/aboutus_profile.html 
and the attached company profile filed with the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority of Singapore. RCB-SCS 

2. Please see the official website of SCS for details on its MMA production 
plant in Singapore: http://www.scschem.com.sg/ourplant mma.html.  

Accepted 

6 1. SCS was appointed by Sumitomo Chemical Japan to be the regional 
distributor of the Olyset net within the South East Asia and Oceania regions. 

2. Please see the official website of Sumitomo Chemical Japan which shows 
that the patent owner of the Olyset net is Sumitomo Chemical Japan: 
http://www.olyset.net/olysetnet/.  

Accepted 

7 1. We are not aware that SCS was the sole supplier of LLINs to CNM between 
2006 and 2010. Please provide details or documentary evidence in support of 
your statement that "SCS was the sole supplier of LLINs to CNM" between 
2006 and 2010. 

2. Reference to the two VPP contracts in 2011 should be removed as 
commission payments ceased once VPP was enacted.  

1.  With regard to Global Fund-funded LLIN contracts, SCS 
was the sole supplier from 2006-1010 (compare chart of 
contracts between CNM and SCS and between CNM and 
VF), taking note of the fact that VF’s contracts #0002-04-06 
and #0002-04-07 were to provide bednets to PSI, not CNM. 

2.  The correct value of the contracts is $4,627,472.  See OIG 
response lines 2 & 17 for explanation.   

8 SCS did not make the improper commission payments knowingly. It was 
orchestrated by the Sales Manager. Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 
above. 

See OIG response line 2 regarding SCS’s basis for making 
payments to consultant.  
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 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
9 The Sales Manager reported directly to his operational supervisor whose role 

in SCS was that of a General Manager ("SCS General Manager"). The SCS 
General Manager is not the Managing Director of SCS. This is an error of fact 
which we believe would have adversely affected your treatment of our case 
given that the involvement of top management would be an aggravating factor 
in any sanctions determination. The SCS General Manager was never a 
Managing Director of SCS. Within SCS, the SCS General Manager reported 
directly to the Director of Health and Crop Sciences (whom you interviewed 
on 19 October 2012), who in turn reports to the Managing Director of SCS.  

Similarly, whilst there may be a divergence between US law and Singapore 
law, under Singapore law (and the common law) principles of attribution of 
liability on a company, the SCS General Manager's intentions and conduct 
should not be attributed to SCS as he cannot be considered to be the 
controlling or directing mind and will of the company. 

SCS Sales Manager’s supervisor informed the OIG that he 
was a Managing Director for Sumitomo’s Research & 
Development facility in Malaysia.  (19/10/12 Managing 
Director ROC ¶ 2). See OIG explanation for line 1 above.   

See OIG report, Due Process, §J, for more complete 
description of the Sumitomo manager’s positions and the 
OIG’s stance on SCS’s accountability for its employees. 
 
 

10 1. The third-party consultancy was orchestrated by the CNM Director and the 
Sales Manager. 

2.  For consistency in terminology, please note that the reference to 
"Sumitomo" should be a reference to "SCS". 

1.  Accepted, with the knowledge and approval of the 
Sumitomo Managing Director and the possible knowledge of 
other Sumitomo senior managers.  See OIG report, §G.1.4.6. 

2.  OIG refers to SCS when speaking of the entity located in 
Singapore and uses “Sumitomo” for other locations, such as 
the entity in Malaysia. 

11 The SCS General Manager is not the Managing Director of SCS. See OIG explanation in lines 1, 9 regarding Managing 
Director. 

12 It is inaccurate to refer to the CNM Director's commission as a "consultant" 
fund as there was no such fund. 

Accepted 
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 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
13 Based on the Sales Manager’s statement to the OIG’s interview on 17 August 

2012, the deleted statement in this paragraph is highly speculative in nature. 
In fact, the Sales Manager did not know who kept the full amount of 
commission. We set out below the relevant section of the interview notes of 
your interview with the Sales Manager on 17 August 2012 for your reference:  

OIG: Have you ever heard that in Cambodia that ministers or directors are 
required to take up portions of the payments that they've received to higher 
level officials? 

Sales Manager: I never asked, I don't want to ask also. 

OIG: Have you ever heard of that? 

Sales Manager: I think it's…in conversation, you know, 'Oh I need to give a 
New Year gift.' 

OIG: Wait, did you understand, it is a fair amount of money. Did you 
understand who kept the full amount or did he ever tell you that, hey, you 
know I need to pay to and so their commission? 

Sales Manager: No. In fact once… 

OIG: Did you have any idea how he used the money?  

Sales Manager: No idea. 

Adjustments made to report to reflect full quotation. 

14 1. SCS did not make the improper commission payments knowingly. It was 
orchestrated by the Sales Manager. Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 
above. 

The consultancy contract was entered into between 
“Chhounou Kimchenda” and Sumitomo Chemical Singapore 
Pte. Ltd.  SCS authorized all payments of the improper 
commissions. See also OIG explanation in lines 1, 14. 

15 We have not come across the contract number "DVTMO R4 No. 07/11". 
However, we know that the Buyer's reference number for this contract is P.O. 
979/07 C.N.M.  

Accepted 

16 We have not come across the contract number "DVTMA. R6 No. 08/015". 
However, we know that the Buyer's reference number for this contract is 
GFATM/CNM/LLINR6/005.  

Accepted 
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 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
17 We have not come across the contract number "DVMTO 10/01 GJ10/44E" 

with a value of US$694,220. However, we know that the Buyer's reference 
number for this contract where a 5.8% commission was paid is PO 
200197482, with a contract value of US$612,000. 

 

CNM’s General Journal and Disbursement instructions 
confirm that $694,220 was transferred to WHO on or 
around 30 June 2010.  OIG takes note of the fact that the 
Purchase Order 200197482 with WHO, dated 5 May 2010, 
was for a total order value of $612,000. 

18 SCS did not have the intention to make the improper commission payments 
to the CNM's executive officers. It was the Sales Manager - and not SCS - who 
orchestrated the third party consultancy. Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 
above. 

1. The Consultancy Agreement had to be approved by senior 
management, in this case the Managing Director referred to 
in this report; therefore, it is not accurate to say that this was 
done without the knowledge of other SCS personnel. 
(19/10/12 Director of Health and Crop Sciences ROC ¶ 
18,20).  Further, SCS made all payments, which were 
processed through the appropriate channels by the Finance 
and Accounting Department.  See OIG explanation in lines 1, 
14. 

19 1. We understand that the SCS Sales Manager was never hesitant to admit the 
fact that the consultancy agreement was fictitious. 

 

SCS Sales Manager initially told OIG that he did not know 
for certain that the consultant was fictitious until 2009 or 
2010 and that he facilitated payments of 2-3 commissions 
before he realized the consultant was fake.  (17/8/12 SCS 
Sales Manager ROC ¶ 25).  In a subsequent interview, the 
SCS Sales Manager admitted that he knew from the 
beginning when he was executing the consultancy contract 
that he needed to pay the CNM Director in order to get 
business in Cambodia.  (20/10/12 SCS Sales Manager ROC ¶ 
10-11). 

20 We are not aware of any other cash payments obtained by the SCS Sales 
Manager in "Kimchenda's" name other than the 1 February 2008 request for 
USD 2,100. 

Accepted 

21 The CNM officials directed the Sales Manager and no one else regarding the 
payment of commissions to third parties. 

Accepted 

22 SCS' Code of Ethics prohibits gift-giving to secure business. It was the Sales 
Manager – and not SCS - who made continuous effort to secure business from 
CNM by performing the favors requested by the Cambodian government 
officials. Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 above. 

Accepted 

 

23 It was the Sales Manager - and not SCS – who offered to pay for private trips 
for the WHO employee. Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 above. 

Accepted, while noting that the SCS Sales Manager was 
offering to pay with SCS’s corporate funds. 



Investigation of Global Fund Grants to Cambodia: GF-OIG-13-050 
 

                            Page 7 of 7 
 

 SCS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (07 June 2013) OIG Response 
24 1. We understand that there was no suggestion from the Sales Manager that 

he clearly linked the commission payment to obtaining the contracts from 
CNM. 

2. Sponsorships per se are not illegal if given in an open and aboveboard 
manner to no particular individual, as a matter of fostering goodwill between 
corporations. However, the Sales Manager and SCS General Manager did not 
adhere to this principle when they offered sponsorships to CNM in the hope 
of securing business. 

1.  Evidence suggests connection between paying 
commission payments and obtaining contracts for SCS from 
CNM.  See OIG report Section G.1.4.1. 

2.  The evidence speaks for itself. 

25 We do not have records of expenses on the following dates (as reflected in 
Annex 1, Figure 39):  10-13 March 2006; June 2006; 28 March – 02 April 
2008; 17-18 and 20-21 September 2008; 11-18 October 2009; 9 December 
2009; 17-18 June 2010. 

OIG has supporting documentation, in the form of emails or 
proof of payments, for all of these entries.  See Annex 1, 
Figure 39 of OIG report. 
 

26 The first version of the Code of Ethics was introduced on 13 January 2005 and 
periodic training on the same for employees was conducted. The second 
version of the Code of Ethics was introduced in 2009. It was subsequently 
revised in 2011 to introduce the External Speak-Up Helpline.  

Accepted 
 

27 It is inaccurate to state that the CNM Director requested for the visa support 
letter for several CNM employees. We are only aware of one such request for 
one CNM employee.  

OIG is aware of at least two separate CNM employees for 
whom the SCS Sales Manager provided letters in support of 
visa applications.  See OIG report Section G.1.4.5. 

28 1.  It was the Sales Manager- and not SCS – who made the gifts and 
performed the favors requested by the Cambodian government officials.  
Please refer to comment #1 in line 1 above. 

2. There is also no evidence to suggest that SCS' management knew or 
approved the inappropriate business expenditures. 

3.  SCS did not have the intention to make the improper commission 
payments, gifts and favors to the CNM's executive officers. It was the Sales 
Manager - and not SCS – who orchestrated the third party consultancy. Please 
refer to comment #1 at paragraph 2 above. 

1. Accepted regarding the individual who performed the 
favors and offered the gifts, however SCS paid for these gifts 
and trips out of corporate finances. 

2. For evidence that SCS management (Managing Director) 
knew and approved inappropriate business expenditures, 
see OIG report Section G.1.4.6. 

3.  Agree that SCS Sales Manager as an individual cultivated 
the relationship with CNM.  It is reasonable to conclude that 
SCS received a benefit as a result of its Sales Manager’s 
efforts to obtain contracts with CNM, including receipt of 
inside information.   

 



Investigation of Global Fund Grants to Cambodia: GF-OIG-13-050 
 

                                    Page 1 of 12 
 

ANNEX 4: OIG Response to VF’s Comments on Cambodia Investigation Report 

 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
1 There is an implication that relations between VF employees and the 

Director of CNM were improper from the start, in 2002. There is no 
evidence to support this. 

There is an implication that VF employees “forged relationships” with more 
than one top official at CNM. In VF's understanding, there is no evidence to 
support this. 

The OIG report makes no claims that VF’s relationship with 
the CNM Director was improper from the start, just that they 
began cultivating a relationship with him as early as 2002.  
See OIG report ¶ 46 and corresponding footnote discussing a 
24 October 2002 email between VF and CNM Director to 
schedule a meeting with VF India’s Regional Director.   

2 There is an implication that the scheme in which certain individuals at VF’s 
Indian branch and the CNM Director participated was created because VF 
was part of a group of suppliers who “knew that they could not pay cash to 
CNM”. VF refuses to be lumped together with other suppliers in 
generalizing innuendoes which do not pertain to VF. There is no evidence 
supporting this statement in relation to VF, and thus the claim seems to be 
based purely on speculation. In fact, evidence suggests that it was indeed 
CNM’s Director who took the initiative as early as 2003 to propose to 
introduce an employee of VF’s Indian Branch to a Cambodian company who 
could “represent VF in the country and secure govt. business as they would 
know how to move in the govt. circle”, It should also be noted that the 
relationship with the agent only started three years or more after the CNM 
Director’s introduction proposal. Furthermore, no evidence suggests that VF 
had any intention whatsoever to make any cash payments, nor would it have 
accepted to engage in such schemes if the scheme had been disclosed to VF’s 
Swiss management. In fact, all agent commission payments to the 
Cambodian agent, like any other agent engaged by VF, were made based on 
valid agent agreements and by means of wire transfers from VF’s corporate 
bank accounts. Likewise, several compliance measures clearly stressing the 
Swiss management’s zero tolerance towards such schemes have been put in 
place since 2008. 

Altered to reflect “SCS’s Sales Manager knew they could not 
pay cash…”   

The point regarding the idea to hire a consultant/agent 
applies to more than one supplier.   
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
3 There is an implication that VF took the initiative to “enact a pay to play 

scheme”. The facts are that individuals employed by VF’s Indian branch 
hired a new agent; this relationship does indeed appear to have been part of 
such a scheme, but there is no evidence supporting the notion that anyone 
at VF beyond these individuals was aware of this. 

This report does not attempt to determine individual liability 
amongst the various corporate entities and the employees of 
those entities.  From the GF perspective, VF HQ entered into 
contracts with CNM and also with the agent “Chhou Nou 
Kimchenda.”   

See Figure 47 of OIG report (chart indicating that the first 
Contract (#0002-04-06) was dated 19 July 2006). 

VF has provided no evidence to support that the amount of 
commission payments VF made was $71, 188.  To the 
contrary, OIG has uncovered evidence that shows the 
amount of improper commissions paid was at least 
$154,241, which includes the final commission payment of 
$83,054.  

4 There is an implication that it might be abnormal that an agent gets a 
commission “even when procurements take place under the supervision of 
other entities”.  At VF, this is the standard situation, i.e. an agent is 
commissioned for all sales with any customer within a given territory. In the 
present case, this is part of what made the relationship look normal to VF’s 
head office in Switzerland. 

Information added to report. 

5 It is stated that commission payments went to the Deputy Director of CNM. 
To VF’s knowledge there is no evidence supporting this claim, at least as far 
as VF would be involved. 

This point pertains to another supplier. 

6 It is stated that VF “continued to make payments to CNM” after Cambodia 
had switched to VPP. There is no evidence that any payments reached the 
CNM after the switch. 

See OIG report § G.1.4.11. 

7 It is stated that “These CNM officials, along with other government officials 
and CNM staff, also accepted gifts and favors from suppliers”. The only 
circumstantial evidence VF knows about suggests the possible funding of 
two plane journeys, for a total value not exceeding 1’500 USD, in 2005 and 
2010, respectively to attend a conference in Dubai and to meet with an 
individual employed by VF’s Indian Branch in Singapore. The statement 
therefore appears unfitting. 

This point is a summary point and is factually accurate in 
that CNM’s officials did receive gifts from multiple suppliers.  
The extent to which VF provided favors is discussed in OIG 
report § G.1.4.11 
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
8 It is stated that “These improper commission payments directly benefitted 

CNM's executive managers, along with the Suppliers who obtained 
contracts as a result, and were made in consideration for obtaining bednet 
contracts from CNM.” There is no evidence known to VF supporting that VF 
payments might have benefitted more than one CNM executive manager, 
and in the case of VF it seems clear, as exposed previously in the corporate 
investigation report, that VF obtained no contracts as a result of any 
payments; to the contrary, VF lost bids despite offering the lowest prices. VF 
refuses to be lumped together with other market players who may have 
obtained contracts in exchange for illicit payments and cannot accept 
wording which implies elements which clearly did not apply to VF. 

The scheme described in OIG’s report is that when a 
Supplier successfully obtained a contract from CNM, an 
improper commission payment was subsequently made.  
Moreover, the very nature of this scheme required that said 
commission be made pursuant to the agency agreement. The 
fact that VF did not pay commission payments for contracts 
it failed to win is irrelevant.   

9 There is no mention of the fact that VF never obtained any contracts under 
direct procurement in Cambodia nor from WHO Cambodia, or from WHO 
Manila under GF funding. VF only received GF funded contracts for 
Cambodia from WHO Geneva and PSI Washington. In VF’s view, omitting 
these important facts introduces an unfair bias. 

Accepted in part. 

VF has provided no evidence that its contracts only came 
through WHO Geneva and PSI Washington.  Indeed, the 
Purchase Order for the 16 July 2010 contract was with WHO 
Malaysia.  See OIG report ¶ 57 for further explanation 
regarding the roles various WHO entities played in 
Cambodian procurements.   Further, the OIG report refers to 
“direct” procurement as those where procurements were 
conducted by MoH or CNM – even where procurements 
were facilitated by procurement agent WHO.  It also is a 
means to distinguish these procurements from those 
conducted under the VPP mechanism. 

10 It is stated that “CNM's Director served as an Observer during certain BEC 
procedures, such as the opening of bidder financial proposals, approved 
technical evaluations”. VF has only been invited to two bids managed by the 
BEC, PR or CNM, and the bids in question were won by a competitor of VF. 
To VF's understanding, this paragraph can only pertain to one of VF's 
competitors, and we believe that this important fact must be stated clearly 
to avoid introducing an unfair bias. VF does not wish to be lumped together 
with other suppliers in generalizing descriptions which do not pertain to VF. 

VF has provided no evidence to indicate the particular bid to 
which its suggested amendments refer.  Moreover, this 
report paragraph describes CNM’s BEC and its processes, 
the significance of which affects other parties besides VF; 
therefore, OIG declines to accept the suggested amendment 
regarding VF’s lack of success during a tender.    

11 VF was established in 1957 in Denmark. Accepted 
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
12 VF has been awarded four net contracts to provide over 1.7 million LLIN 

products to Cambodia since 2006.  The first two were made through PSI 
Washington in its role as SR of Global Fund funding and the 2010 contract 
was facilitated by WHO Geneva. 

Report amended to reflect that the four contracts  (in 7 
delivery installments) were to provide almost 1.8 million 
nets to Cambodia. 

Regarding the first two contracts, the contract to provide 
bednets was between and executed by “Populations Services 
International/Cambodia” –not PSI Washington—and VFSA.  
Regarding the 2010 contract that was facilitated by WHO, 
please see OIG’s explanation in line 9. 

13 The title for OIG report section G.1.4.8 should state “VF made USD 71,188 
in improper commission payments …” as opposed to USD 154,241 in 
improper commission payments. 

This edit is incorrect.  VF paid, or made substantial efforts to 
pay, at least $154,241 in improper commissions to the CNM 
Director, including after he left the post as CNM Director in 
May 2011 and continued working in the Cambodian 
government in another capacity.  See OIG report § G.1.4.8 
and G.1.4.10 for more explanation.  

14 It is stated that “even though VF did not supply nets to CNM directly until 
2010, it began cultivating its relationship with CNM's Director as early as 
2002”. There is an implication that VF employees may thus have been 
participating in the “pay to play” scheme starting in 2002. To the contrary, 
it should be noted that, in the SWOT analysis prepared as late as February 
2007 by an individual employed by VF’s Indian Branch, the relationship is 
described in the following terms: “Weak relations with the Director CNM- 

. He is pro Olyset”. This puts the sequence of events of the purported 
“pay to play” scheme in perspective and should not, in VF’s opinion, be 
omitted from the report in this context. 

See OIG explanation in line 3.  

15 It is stated that “VF admits to paying commission payments to an "agent" 
chosen by CNM’s Director for each of these contracts”. There is an 
implication that the agent was chosen by the CNM with knowledge by VF 
management, which is not supported by any facts. Likewise, the information 
in question has been volunteered by VF. And finally, there is no evidence to 
the effect that more than US$ 71,188 was paid to the agent related to GF 
funded contracts. Therefore, the paragraph should be reworded so as to 
correct these unsupported biases. 

OIG made requests for information from VF, which were 
voluntarily complied with by VF.  VF, however, did not 
proactively disclose any documents or findings to OIG in 
advance of this request.  

Regarding the amount of commission payments made by VF 
as commissions in Cambodia during the relevant period, the 
correct total is $154,241.  See OIG report Sections G.1.4.8 
and G.1.4.10.   
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
16 VF knows of no evidence supporting the claim that CNM’s Director “made it 

clear [to the Sales Manager for Cambodia] that commission payments 
were going directly to him” starting in 2004; this may have been the case, 
but no earlier than 2007. This should be amended accordingly so as to 
correct this unsupported bias – except if corresponding, reliable evidence is 
available. 

The OIG is in possession of evidence to support this point.  
See OIG report ¶ 118, fn. 157. 

17 It is stated that “The scope of this contract granted "Kimchenda" the right 
to represent VF in sales to Cambodia for the GF procurement of LLINs”. 
There is an implication, by omission, that the agent only represented VF in 
relation to GF sales. This is wrong and should be corrected to avoid unfair 
bias; like most other VF agents, this agent contractually covered any VF 
customer in the country. 

Accepted edits in part.  OIG notes that for this, and other 
times where VF asks OIG to describe commission payments 
as being arranged at the request of certain individuals, OIG 
maintains that payments passed through the necessary 
channels and were ultimately paid by VF from corporate 
finances.  As such, payments to its agent remain the 
company’s responsibility.   
 

18 It is stated that commissions could reach 6.5%. For the type of nets sold into 
Cambodia, the maximum commission was 3.5%. This should be corrected. 

Accepted 

19 It is stated that payments made to the agent were made “with the approval 
of the headquarters office”. It is not correct to speak of “approval” in this 
context. Indeed, as described under point 7.4.1. of the corporate 
investigation report, payments to agents did not involve head office 
approval. Regarding the case where the Executive officer became involved, 
this relates to a case where a 100% payout of the commission was requested 
despite the fact that VF had only received net funds from the customer of 
90% of the contracted value. The current statement is therefore wrong and 
misleading. 

Statements regarding approval process for payments are 
factually accurate.  VF presented evidence that its 
commission payments were processed and approved by its 
finance and accounting departments in the headquarters 
office.  This is further validated by the fact that payments 
were paid from VF’s corporate bank account in Switzerland.   
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
20 It is stated that “The final payment of US$ 83,054 was ultimately sent to 

the account of another beneficiary,  Capital Limited, at Standard 
Chartered Bank in Hong Kong for the stated purpose of passing a cash 
transfer of the commission payment to "Chhou Non Kimchenda’s" husband 
in Thailand for ‘tax reasons’”. It is important to indicate that there is no 
evidence that this payment ever reached the agent, her husband, or anyone 
at the CNM. Indeed, regarding this last payment, it should be noted that: 

 at the time of this payment, and also at the time the underlying order 
had been awarded to VF,  had already left his position as Director 
of the CNM (5 May 2011 – see also the corporate investigation 
report); 

 the payment was made to  Capital Limited in Hong Kong; 

 based on the email exchanged between VF’s Thai agent and the 
Regional Director for VF’s Indian Branch (31 Jan 2012), the 
beneficial owner of the account would be a Mr T , designated as a 
friend of the Thai agent; 

 according to the same email, Mr T  would then “carry back to 
Bangkok time by time”, and not to Cambodia. 

Based on facts, it can therefore not be concluded that the payment ever 
reached the Cambodian agent or her husband, let alone the CNM Director. 

VF’s suggested edit regarding the fact that there is no 
evidence confirming receipt of final commission payment to 
agent is already addressed in OIG report § G.1.4.10. 

21 The two individuals at VF’s Indian branch communicated exclusively with 
the CNM Director on all matters relating to the agency relationship. 

OIG disagrees with VF’s statement.  The evidence shows that 
CNM’s Director communicated with individuals at VF’s 
Indian branch as well as a Director in VF Asia Ltd. Pvt. office 
on at least 3 occasions beginning in 2003. See OIG report 
Figure 8 regarding VF’s then-Regional Director, Asia’s 
meeting with CNM Director in 2003.  Language in report 
correctly reflects:  “employees of VF communicated 
exclusively with CNM’s Director…” 

22 When VF authorized the final commission payment in the amount of USD 
83,053 on 2 February 2012, it was done pursuant to the agency contract that 
ended on 30 June 2011.  The contract that was connected to this payment 
was awarded by official note on 27 June 2011, i.e. three days before the 
agent contract’s 30 June 2011 expiration. 

Accepted 
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
23 It is stated that “it seems that VF's employees in the regional office, and 

possibly the VF headquarters, did not scrutinize carefully enough the 
agency arrangement in Cambodia”. The word “possibly” correctly indicates 
speculation, which we believe has no place in such a report. 

The OIG believes the evidence supports a finding that VF 
headquarters had opportunity to review and question the 
agency arrangement in that: 1) there was no valid agency 
contract in place at the time of the first commission 
payment; and 2) headquarters approved both the agency 
agreement and all payments made in association therewith, 
and on one occasion even questioned the appropriateness of 
full payment of commission.  See OIG report section 
G.1.4.12. 

24 It is stated that “This payment was authorized by an Executive officer in VF 
headquarters.”  This is not correct. As explained above and under point 
7.4.1. of the corporate investigation report, payments to agents did not 
involve head office approval. In this particular case, however, a 100% 
payout of the commission was requested despite the fact that VF had only 
received a net payment from the customer of 90% of the contracted value, 
and so the Executive officer was informed and de facto asked to approve the 
last 10% of the commission payment, while the full payment had been 
approved already by individuals employed by VF’s Indian Branch. 

OIG added factual clarification regarding the involvement of 
the Executive Officer in this decision.   
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
25 It is stated that “Unlike all the other "agent" commission transactions, this 

payment was not wired directly to "Kimchenda's" Canadia Bank account. 
Instead, VF made an urgent request to Credit Suisse to change the name of 
the beneficiary to "  Capital Limited" and asked for confirmation that 
the funds were credited to the correct beneficiary's account at Standard 
Chartered Bank in Hong Kong on 2 February 2012.” Regarding the final 
payment of USD 83,054, the Regional Director of VF’s Indian branch 
requested payment of the agent commission at the end of January 2012, 
which was then initiated by VF’s accounting department with value date 2 
February 2012. It is worth noting that this transaction carried the name of 
VF’s Cambodian agent, that the wire transfer was not marked “urgent” or 
“express”, and that the Regional Director for VF’s Indian branch had full 
authorization to request payment of the said amount according to VF’s 
internal delegation of authority rules. On 7 February 2012 the Regional 
Director of VF’s Indian branch requested proof of payment, which was 
provided to him by VF’s Accounting Department. Subsequently, the 
Regional Director of VF’s Indian branch reverted to the Accounting 
Department with new payment details which included “  Capital 
Limited” as beneficiary. VF’s Accounting Department did not question the 
change and provided the updated account holder name to Credit Suisse, 
who issued a Swift message to the corresponding bank on 13 February 2013. 
The Swift message carried the word “urgent”, however this related to the 
fact that the wire transfer initiated on 2 February 2012 had not reached the 
beneficiary account on 13 February 2013. 

OIG removed the word “urgent” from description as it 
applies to Credit Suisse’s internal priority rating.   

OIG added clarification to the report regarding VF’s initial 
request to pay its agent in February 2012. 
 
 

26 It is stated that “VF further admits that it has no official record that this 
commission payment of almost US$ 85,000 ultimately ended up in 
"Kimchenda's" possession”. The choice of the word “admits” is misleading, 
as the reported material is entirely based on information volunteered by VF. 
The objective facts are simply that there was indeed no official record that 
this commission payment of approx. US$ 85,000 ultimately ended up in 
"Kimchenda's" possession, and the paragraph should be reworded 
accordingly. 

It is stated that “VF has not been able to locate or produce said receipt to 
date”. To our knowledge, the OIG has not requested VF to do so. The 
sentence should therefore be deleted. 

See OIG report section G.1.4.10 addressing this topic.   

See also OIG’s explanation in line 15 regarding the voluntary 
nature of VF’s submissions. 

OIG made multiple requests for the receipt VF referenced 
showing that the commission payment was received by the 
agent’s husband.  VF confirmed to OIG in email dated 20 
June 2013 that it is not in possession of receipt showing that 
cash commission was given to agent’s husband (as allegedly 
requested). 
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
27 Only due to VF’s comprehensive internal investigation and full co-operation 

with OIG is OIG’s report able to state that “Where the "commission" 
payment ultimately ended up is unclear”. Indeed, VF’s internal 
investigation has revealed that the Regional Director of VF’s Indian branch, 
acting entirely on his own and against all internal VF procedures and rules, 
had arranged a scheme together with a Thai individual where the funds 
transferred in February 2012 to a Hong Kong account were to be 
transported in cash to Bangkok. There is no evidence supporting any claims 
that VF HQ had any other intention than to provide the Cambodian agent 
with the commission the agent was entitled to according to a valid contract. 

The report properly states that it was the company’s 
intention to pay its consultant for this final commission 
payment.  As with all other commission payments discussed 
in the report, this payment is confirmed by a wire transfer of 
money from VF’s corporate bank account.  As such, OIG 
credits VF with making this commission payment.      

28 There is an implication that VF had an active role in obtaining the CNM 
Director’s advice, in 2003, in relation to the identification of a company who 
could represent VF in Cambodia to "secure govt. business as they would 
know how to move in the govt. circles”. The evidence points in the exact 
opposite direction, as the relevant email relates to a proposal from the CNM 
Director, which the VF employee does nothing more than record. There is 
no indication in this email that such an idea and proposal emanates from 
the VF employee – the opposite is the case. Therefore, in the context of the 
investigation, it is not appropriate to employ the tone used in the paragraph, 
as there may be an implication that VF sought ways to create a “pay to play” 
scheme on its own initiative, which is the exact contrary of what transpires 
from the email. It must therefore also be noted that the relationship with the 
agent only started 3 years or more after the CNM Director wanted to 
introduce VF to companies who could represent it in Cambodia. 

OIG agrees with VF that the email in question records events 
of a meeting between a VF employee and CNM Director in 
2003, but disagrees with VF’s interpretation that it was the 
CNM Director who was trying to solicit VF’s business to 
Cambodia.  Even assuming that VF’s interpretation is 
correct, arguably it would mean that CNM’s Director is 
attempting to provide an advantage to VF over other 
competitors in obtaining government business.  OIG’s report 
is edited to be more factually accurate:  “VF received the 
CNM Director’s advice on who could represent VF in 
Cambodia….” 

OIG declines to add VF’s suggested amendment regarding 
the timing of the agency relationship as it is clearly 
established in the OIG report, see ¶ 120-121. 

29 The Secretary of State under the MoH did not agree to sole source a contract 
to VF in February 2007.  

Accepted.  OIG amends report to reflect that VF won the 
contract but that the Secretary of State did not approve the 
CNM Director’s request to sole source to VF.   

30 It is stated that “CNM's Director then forwarded to VF an email between 
WHO Manila and CNM regarding WHO's questions/concerns about the 
potential timing of VF's delivery of product and the composition of this 
product.” VF points out that at the time of this email, Sumitomo had 
confirmed to WHO Manila that it would submit a quotation. 

OIG accepts VF’s suggestions and clarifies that WHO had 
already requested for Sumitomo to submit a bid quotation.   
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
31 A Senior Manager at VF’s headquarters reprimanded the VF Regional 

Director in India when he argued to allow the agent to keep the full USD 
83,054 commission despite penalties incurred for late deliveries. 

OIG does not agree with VF’s interpretation that the senior 
manager reprimanded the VF Indian branch employee.  
Moreover, this construal is irrelevant to the point being 
made.  OIG clarifies that senior manager expressed his 
reservations about future payments being made to agents 
under similar circumstances. 

32 VF requests OIG to delete ¶ 145 of its report because VF the content is 
irrelevant since VF was awarded the contract being discussed on 27 June 
2011. 

OIG does not agree with VF’s request to delete ¶ 145 based 
on the fact that VF already won the contract in question.  
The email’s significance is that the (then former) CNM 
Director is sharing information with VF concerning other 
competitors and that the CNM Director was informing VF 
not to share the information with others.  These facts further 
demonstrate a pattern of VF’s willingness to accept sensitive 
and potentially privileged commercial information.  

33 It is stated that “VF paid US$ 83.054 in commission payments to its 
"agent" in connection with these contracts, despite the complete lack of 
involvement of the local agent in this international procurement”. In line 
with the comments above, the sentence should reflect the fact that the 
payment was effected upon final payment by PSI and corresponding 
approval by individuals working for VF’s Indian Branch, and that the 
Executive Regional Director’s approval, granted after some questioning and 
with a reprimand, only pertained to the final 10%. 

OIG should clarify that the payment came at the request of certain 
individuals at VF’s Indian branch.   

OIG agrees to clarify that there was one contract resulting in 
3 separate deliveries.  OIG does not agree to VF’s repeated 
clarification that payment requests were made to VF’s 
headquarters by employees of VF’s Indian branch, as that 
point is already made in throughout the OIG report.  
Moreover, as already stated herein, it is VF the company  
who effectuates payment of all agency commissions and is, 
therefore, responsible for said payments. 
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
34 It is stated that “Such involvement by multiple high-level managers 

demonstrates, at the very least, an awareness of this agency arrangement 
and the financials associated therewith”. There is an implication that VF’s 
top level management, which is based in Switzerland, was aware of “this 
agency arrangement and the financials associated therewith”. In reality, all 
individuals cited, except for VF’s legal department regarding technical 
review, were employees of VF’s Indian Branch. We believe this important 
fact must be clearly stated. 

VF is incorrect that the only individuals cited in the report 
were from the Indian branch.  Significant contact and 
decisions were also made by a Director from VF Asia Ltd. 
Pvt.  This indicates that a senior manager and someone 
outside of the Indian branch had awareness of and 
involvement in the agency arrangement and financials 
associated therewith.  

OIG’s report reflects that VF employees from different 
offices were aware of the agency agreement and the 
financials associated therewith.  See OIG section G.1.4.12 for 
OIG’s position that enough information was available for 
VF’s headquarters to have concerns about the legitimacy of 
the agency arrangement, which supports an inference that 
VF senior management should have known about the 
improper commission payments. 

35 There is a reference to “commission payments to said individual under 
circumstances that do not appear to be normal, e.g. payment for work 
done under an unexecuted back-dated contract before the identity of the 
agent was known”. This sentence is misleading, as there is an implication 
that “payment for work done under an unexecuted back-dated contract 
before the identity of the agent was known” was done more than once. 

OIG disagrees with VF’s interpretation of the language in 
this paragraph and provides another example of unusual 
circumstances surrounding payment of the commission (e.g. 
the lack of monthly marketing reports as required by the 
contract). 

36 There is a reference to payments being made to senior program officials in 
CNM, namely the Director and Deputy Director.  VF had no involvement in 
payments to any employees besides CNM’s Director. 

OIG should clarify that the reference to the Deputy Director does not 
concern VF. 

This paragraph is part of a summary of factual findings and 
does not pertain solely to VF.  The OIG report does not 
indicate that VF made improper commission payments to 
CNM’s Deputy Director. 
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 VF comments and/or suggestions for amendment (26 May 2013) OIG Response 
37 It is stated that “CNM officials requested and accepted payment in the form 

of gifts, trips and favors from the same international suppliers throughout 
the duration of CNM's relationship with the Suppliers, and that the cost 
associated with travel alone exceeded US $20,000”. It is very important to 
VF that facts that do not pertain to VF are not linked to VF by association. 
In the present case, the only circumstantial evidence VF knows about 
suggests the possible funding of two plane journeys, for a total value not 
exceeding US$ 1,500 in 2005 and 2010, respectively to attend a conference 
in Dubai and to meet with an individual employed by VF’s Indian Branch in 
Singapore. There is no evidence that any advantage was sought in this 
respect. VF insists that these facts be reported separately and not by 
association, especially in view of the apparently very limited role of VF in 
the overall picture. 

This paragraph is part of a summary of factual findings and 
does not pertain solely to VF.   

Further, the report accurately describes the two known 
instances of the CNM Director and family’s trips to 
Singapore and Dubai – trips that VF’s Indian branch Sales 
Manager offered to have VF pay for. 
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ANNEX 5: OIG Response to NCHADS Comments on Cambodia Investigation Report 

 NCHADS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (19 July 
2013) 

OIG Response 

1 The Senior Procurement Officer was employed by NCHADS from 31 January 
2009 to 31 August 2012 (not September 2012) and worked under Round 7 
HIV grant, Phase 1. The procurement activity for this grant started mid-2009 
(not 01 January 2009). 

There was an overlapped period from January to May 2009 with R5 for which 
MoH was PR and not NCHADS.   

From 2003 to the end of May 2009, the Round 5 procurement activities were 
managed by NCHADS-SR team (i.e. Manager, Planning Officer, M&E Officer, 
Procurement Officer and Finance Officer) and this team was directly 
reporting to MoH-PR.  

The Senior Procurement Officer had no procurement responsibility or 
authority to oversee the procurement activities under Round 5.  His activities 
and role as Senior Procurement Officer were to coordinate with the relevant 
SRs and NCHADS technical units to develop technical specifications and to 
receive price quotations. He was only a Secretary of the Bid Evaluation 
Committee (BEC), not a member of the BEC. 

The Senior Procurement Officer began working on the 
Global Fund program at NCHADS as of 1 January 2009.  
The Round 7 HIV grant technically commenced on 1 
December 2008.  OIG does not dispute that Round 5 
activities, including procurements, were still going on in 
2009. 

2 Companies who did not win Global Fund contracts during Rounds 7 or 9 
should be removed from the list of local vendors who participated in 
fraudulent schemes with NCHADS under the Global Fund program.   

Accepted 

3 Infotech Computer System, MEAS Sovuthidy, Ontaracheat, Kuang Hsein 
Medical Instrument, Deam, Neeka, Great Pharma Co and Biomed Phnom 
Penh were not awarded any contracts under Global Fund Rounds 7 and 9 
grants to Cambodia.  Therefore the Senior Procurement Officer could not 
have received any commission payments from these companies when he was 
responsible for Global Fund Rounds 7 and 9.  

Agreed, while noting that these were still local vendors with 
whom the Senior Procurement Officer regularly engaged in 
procurement tampering under the Donor 1 program.  Several 
of these same vendors continued to bid for contracts under 
the Global Fund program.  Their complicity in these schemes 
is relevant to OIG’s findings in connection with Global Fund 
procurements. 
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 NCHADS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (19 July 
2013) 

OIG Response 

4 The evidence presented in OIG report ¶ 184 concerning a 2 July 2009 email to 
a Kuang Hsien employee to build a 15% commission into the contract price 
relates to the CTAP project, not to the Global Fund grants. Hence, the Senior 
Procurement Officer could not have received commissions from these 
companies as he was responsible for Global Fund Rounds 7 and 9 grants. 

Agreed, while noting that during the time period of this 
wrongdoing, the Senior Procurement Officer was in charge 
of procurements under the Global Fund program.  
Therefore, this information is relevant to show how he 
continued to conduct business with local vendors even after 
moving to the Global Fund program.   

5 The evidence of wrongdoing in procurement processes is related to the Donor 
1 program which ended before the Senior Procurement Officer became 
responsible for procurement under Global Fund Round 7 and 9 grants.   
 

The OIG disagrees with NCHADS’ argument based on 
evidence of the improper facilitation payment under the 
Global Fund program, continued efforts to manipulate bid 
prices and submissions, and the lack of credibility of the 
Senior Procurement Officer.  See OIG report section –
G.2.2.3; see also OIG explanation in line 4. 

6 Procurement processes at NCHADS were open and competitive. Since 
qualified vendors in Cambodia are limited and the National HIV program is a 
long term program : 

- It is common to see same vendors regularly competing against each 
other and this does not necessarily imply any wrong-doing; 

- The development of relationships with vendors is inevitable and does 
not necessarily imply any wrongdoing. 

In the case of the NCHADS Senior Procurement Officer, his 
relationships with local vendors was improper due to the 
facilitation payments he required and the manipulation of 
bid submissions he requested from vendors, not because 
they regularly competed against each other.  

7 There is no evidence that the Senior Procurement officer would have received 
commissions from Dynamic Pharma and MIG Group. 

See OIG report ¶ 171, 180. 
 

8 The reasons for the back-dating of the quotation discussed in OIG report ¶ 
192 was simply to ensure the procurement could be done within Round 7 
Phase 1 ending on 31 December 2010, or else it would have been delayed and 
taken place under Phase 2. 
 
Whilst this (along with suggesting an amount for the quotation) is indeed 
improper procurement practice , there is no evidence of any implication or 
request for commission or kickback payments to the vendor, especially since 
the company referred to in the email did not win the contract. 

NCHADS recognizes that this sort of tampering with bid 
quotations constitutes improper procurement practice. 
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 NCHADS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (19 July 
2013) 

OIG Response 

9 Whilst there is clear evidence of wrong-doing in the case where the Senior 
Procurement Officer asked Dynamic Pharma to increase its price quotation 
and back-date its bid so that MIG Group could win the bid (the Procurement 
Officer has admitted it) OIG report¶ 180, the draft report does not provide the 
material evidence or its source of information which proves that he requested 
or received USD 400 from MIG groups or Infotech Computer system. 

The Senior Procurement Officer admitted to doing so.  See 
OIG report ¶ 180. 

10 The Round 5 disbursement amount of USD 2,295,954 should be excluded 
from the total Global Fund grant amount received at the time the Senior 
Procurement Officer played a role in procurement (USD 54.2 million) – this 
figure would amount to 51.9 million. 

Accepted 

11 The amount involved in procurement contracts with third party vendors at 
the time the Senior Procurement Officer played a role in procurement should 
exclude the Round 5 related amount of USD 883,682.39 – this figure would 
finally amount to USD 5,570,768.61. 

The OIG agreed to remove the value of any procurements 
that occurred under Round 5 from consideration in this 
report.  According to the NCHADS general ledger that was 
provided to the OIG during the course of its investigation, 
the value of the select local procurements being referred to 
in this report for Round 5 was USD 217,134, not USD 
883,682.39 as NCHADS claims in its response.  The reason 
for this discrepancy may be due to the fact that the OIG 
selected procurements that fell under the following 
categories only: Civil construction, drugs, living support, 
medical equipment, printing materials, vehicles, 
infrastructure & other equipment.   
 
It is possible that NCHADS may have been referring to all 
Round 5 local procurements in its figure. 
   
Because NCHADS did not provide OIG with the 
transactional details to back up its claim, the OIG has no way 
to determine the cause of this discrepancy.  As such, the OIG 
report will provide a range for the Round 7 and Round 9 
select local procurements that includes NCHADS’s and 
OIG’s calculations:  between USD 5,570,769 and 6,237,317. 
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 NCHADS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (19 July 
2013) 

OIG Response 

12 The amount of USD 185,633.43 should be excluded from the total tainted 
fraud amount. The Senior Procurement Officer was not involved in these 
procurements and there was no risk he could have influenced them in any 
way or go any bribe.  

Breakdown as follows: 

a. The amount of USD 14,963 relates to a contract won by MIG Group 
under the Global Fund Round 5 grant which the Senior Procurement 
Officer was not involved in. This amount should therefore be deducted 
from the total amount of non-compliant expenditure. 

b. NCHADS reviewed the ledgers sent to the OIG team .  Out of the total 
payment to Dynamic Pharma of USD 26,815 under Round 7, NCHADS 
paid USD 174.43 for OI drugs for which procurement activities were 
pooled with and conducted by the MoH-PR (not NCHADS). This 
amount needs to therefore be deducted.  

c. Out of the total payment to Dynamic Pharma of USD 198,054 under 
Round 9, two payments of the amounts of USD 69,120 and USD 
101,376 (totaling USD 170,496) were made for Viral Load reagents and 
its consumables for which the Global Fund had approved the technical 
specifications, and for which CHAI and the Global Fund/LFA had 
provided technical assistance for the unit costs. This amount needs to 
therefore be deducted.   

a.  Accepted 

b.  Accepted 

c.  The evidence shows that the Senior Procurement Officer 
manipulated the procurement process through acts such as 
back-dating bids and providing price quotation information 
to bidders.  The fact that the Global Fund approved the 
specifications and unit costs is irrelevant to the validation of 
the process, which was tainted by the above-described acts.  
Interfering with procurement practices in a way that 
undermines the transparency and equality of the process 
works to compromise the entire process. 

13 When the OIG verbally alerted the NCHADS Deputy Director about the 
Senior Procurement Officer’s admission of the commission payments, 
NCHADS took strong action and decided to terminate the Senior 
Procurement Officer’s contract on 31 August 2012 (with one month notice in 
line with the contractual terms and conditions). 

OIG does not dispute the fact that NCHADS terminated the 
employment of the Senior Procurement Officer at the end of 
August 2012. 
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 NCHADS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (19 July 
2013) 

OIG Response 

14 Under Cambodian law, all pharmacies and companies dealing with 
pharmaceutical imported products have to have a pharmacist on standby as 
an official reference person. 

The NCHADS Logistic and Supply Management Officer was a stand-by for 
Dynamic Pharma, but having no role in the bidding process. NCHADS was 
not aware of the potential conflict of interest.  
However, when verbally notified by the OIG in July 2012, NCHADS 
proactively and rapidly took action as NCHADS offered him to option to 
either resign at NCHADS or from his standby role.   As a result, his contract 
was terminated by 30 September 2012. 

OIG does not dispute the fact that NCHADS terminated the 
employment of the Dynamic Pharma employee, but 
maintains that the facts stated in the OIG report, see ¶ 171, 
are factually accurate and raise a legitimate concern of 
potential conflict of interest. 

Indeed, NCHADS shared OIG’s concern as it terminated his 
contract “given this potential conflict of interest.” 

15 In clarifications provided to the NCHADS Management team in early August 
2012, the Senior Procurement Officer stated that in his interview with the 
OIG, he had admitted to some of the facts of wrongdoings exposed in this 
report which were all related to the Donor 1’s projects (which ended in mid-
2008) and in the absence of strong control procedures.  

However, based on the interview with the Senior Procurement Officer (which 
was conducted without an interpreter or independent witness) and email 
communications by the Procurement Officer,  which indicated solicitation of 
kickback commission payments from vendors under Donor 1 project (from 
2005-2008), the draft report assumed the Procurement Officer continued the 
wrongdoings systematically and routinely for all vendors and all contracts 
under Global Fund Rounds 7 and 9 grants; and this in spite of the fact (which 
was not mentioned in the report) that the Senior Procurement Officer 
confirmed this practice was not continued under Global Fund grants (from 
2009 to 2012), since the procurement procedures and policies significantly 
improved, and procurement standards and scrutiny were more strict and 
robust. Indeed, a Bidding Evaluation Committee was involved (which he was 
not a member of but only a Secretary) and verification was conducted by a 
third party (i.e. the LFA). 

There is no evidence that similar practice (i.e. requests for 15% commission 
payments) under the Donor 1 program continued under Global Fund grants. 
No credible evidence that the alleged wrongdoing continued.  

See OIG report ¶ 167-168, discussing rationale for 
concluding that Senior Procurement Officer compromised 
the integrity of Global Fund procurements beginning in 
January 2009 due to his established past practices, evidence 
of an additional facilitation payment, and continued 
procurement manipulation of Global Fund-financed 
contracts.   
 
The Global Fund makes no claim that the Senior 
Procurement Officer required 15% commissions for Global 
Fund contracts, but rather that his actions put USD 317,430 
worth of Global Fund procurements at risk during his 
supervision of the Global Fund program.   
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 NCHADS comments and/or suggestions for amendment (19 July 
2013) 

OIG Response 

16 The report states that the Senior Procurement Officer indeed made 
contradictory statements (i.e. first denied ever having solicited or received 
commission payments and later saying he had been doing so the entire time). 
This clearly shows that the Senior Procurement Officer was quite confused, 
inconsistent, frightened and probably under strong pressure and intimidated 
in the one single interview with the OIG team, especially as it was a sensitive 
interview conducted in an international hotel room. 

OIG maintains its position that the Senior Procurement 
Officer was not confused, but rather disingenuous in his 
responses to OIG and only admitted what he could not deny 
once confronted with hard evidence of his wrongdoing. 
 

17 It is unclear whether  the individual was informed and was asked for his 
written consent to have the interview recorded, and whether the individual 
was given a copy of the written statement in both English and Khmer 
language. 

Having the person’s interview recorded and having him sign a written 
statement directly after the interview in those conditions is a questionable 
practice not meeting the usual international standards and practice for 
testimonies, and not fully respecting legal rights 
 

The Senior Procurement Officer met with OIG staff 
voluntarily, spoke in English, and did not request an 
interpreter at any point.  He was aware his interview was 
being recorded and voiced no objection.   

OIG emphasizes that it did not conduct a criminal 
investigation triggering legal liability.  This was an 
administrative inquiry concerning the management of grant 
funds pursuant to the Global Fund’s rights under the  
Standard Terms and Conditions of the Program Grant 
Agreements. 

18 NCHADS has serious concerns about the incorrect, inconsistent and even at 
times contradictory facts, scarce evidence and overgeneralization and 
extrapolation of findings presented in the draft report, in particular as they 
excessively and mostly rely on the interview of the Senior Procurement 
Officer. 

See OIG explanation discussed in line 15 and OIG report 
section G.2.3, ¶183 for further discussion of the 
ramifications of the Senior Procurement Officer’s actions on 
the procurement process and, in particular, to USD 317,430 
worth of procurements with compromised vendors that he 
managed under the Global Fund program.  

19 “NCHADS compromised the integrity of the Global Fund procurements”: 

The general allegation and accusation about NCHADS’ integrity based on one 
individual’s wrongdoings within a limited time duration and cope is 
unsupported and unacceptable.  

In addition to this, the tainted amount represents a relatively limited amount 
compared to the significant Global Fund funding managed by NCHADS over 
the many years. 

The OIG perceives the Senior Procurement Officer’s 
wrongdoing as being pervasive throughout his work as 
procurement officer under the Donor 1 program and 
continuing into his time managing Global Fund 
procurements under Rounds 7 and 9.   

The OIG considers activities that put Global Fund grants at 
risk in any amount to be a serious matter. 
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ANNEX 6: OIG Response to MEDiCAM’s Comments on Cambodia Investigation Report 

 MEDiCAM comments and/or 
suggestions for amendment (08 
October 2012) 

MEDiCAM response and/or suggestions for 
amendment (17 July 2013) 

OIG Response 

1 Staff Member A (who has currently left the 
organization) worked to support training 
(such as preparing announcements, receiving 
applications/registrations from trainees, 
following up with participants, logistical 
arrangements, material preparation, assisting 
in training facilitation, etc.) as well as 
information sharing and advocacy work.  

As such, Staff Member A’s monthly salary was 
USD 800 out of which the Global Fund 
financed USD 575 from the Training 
Assistant budget line (which was paid from 
February to December 2009), and Donor B 
financed USD 225.  

Staff Member A worked for MEDiCAM as Advocacy 
Coordinator from 02 February 2009 – 15 January 2010 
with a monthly salary of USD 800 (out of which USD 
575 was charged from the budget line of Training 
Assistant of the Global Fund HIV Round 7 grant and 
USD 225 from the budget line of Health Information 
Officer of the Donor X grant). 
 

MEDiCAM intentionally misled OIG in 
its 8 October 2012 comments in which it 
informed OIG that Staff Member A was 
paid out of the Training Assistant 
budget line and performed training-
related tasks.   

In its 17 July 2013 response, MEDiCAM 
claimed Staff Member A was the 
Advocacy Coordinator despite its 8 
October contention that Staff Member B 
filled this role (and provided a contract 
to demonstrate that fact). 

Moreover, the OIG investigation 
uncovered two contracts signed by Staff 
Member A for the same time period (2 
February 2009 until 31 January 2010) 
for the positions of Training Assistant 
and Advocacy Coordinator.  Since 
MEDiCAM never claims that she held 
two positions simultaneously, and in 
fact admits that she was only the 
Advocacy Coordinator, one of these 
documents is false.  Notably, MEDiCAM 
did not provide the “Training Assistant” 
contract to OIG directly; this was 
obtained from Donor B whom 
MEDiCAM provided it to.   
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 MEDiCAM comments and/or 
suggestions for amendment (08 
October 2012) 

MEDiCAM response and/or suggestions for 
amendment (17 July 2013) 

OIG Response 

2 Staff Member B was the Advocacy 
Coordinator from 03 April 2008 to December 
2009 and his position was financed by Donor 
B. His salary was revised and the second 
contract was signed from 01 October 2008 to 
December 2009. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff Member B worked with MEDiCAM from 03 April 
2008 to 31 October 2011 occupying four different 
positions: 

Staff Member B worked as an Advocacy Coordinator 
from 03 April to 31 August 2008, and although his 
contract for the post of Advocacy Coordinator financed 
by Donor X was effective till 31 March 2009, Staff 
Member B got promoted to Information Sharing 
Manager after 5 months. 

As Information Manager from 01 September to 31 
December 2008, Staff Member B had an additional 
workload related to the information sharing unit 
(writing articles, coordinating and facilitating monthly 
MEDiCAM Membership meetings), but also continued 
to be responsible for all advocacy work. Thus, his salary 
continued being charged to the budgetary line of 
Advocacy Coordinator from Donor B. 

Once the Global Fund HIV Round 7 grant started on 01 
January 2009 and financed one more Health 
Information Officer (Staff Member D), MEDiCAM 
decided to re-assign Staff Member B to lead the 
Research Unit in the position of Research Coordinator, 
a post funded by Donor X. As Staff Member B 
continued supporting advocacy work in this position, 
his salary continued being charged to the budgetary line 
of Advocacy Coordinator under the Donor X grant. 

As of January 2010, Staff Member B continued working 
as Research Coordinator, this time funded by Donor Y, 
before finally resigning on 31 October 2011 to pursue his 
studies in Japan. 

MEDiCAM intentionally misled OIG in 
its 8 October 2012 comments in which it 
informed OIG that Staff Member B was 
the Advocacy Coordinator for the entire 
year in 2009 (and provided a contract to 
that effect). 

In its 17 July response, MEDiCAM 
admits that Staff Member B only served 
as Advocacy Coordinator until 31 
August 2008 and that Staff Member A 
took over the position in February 
2009.   

Regardless of what budget lines 
MEDiCAM charged Staff Member B 
salary to, the fact remains that 
MEDiCAM created a fake contract 
signed by Staff Member B to support the 
story that he was the Advocacy 
Coordinator while Staff Member A was 
the Training Assistant. 
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 MEDiCAM comments and/or 
suggestions for amendment (08 
October 2012) 

MEDiCAM response and/or suggestions for 
amendment (17 July 2013) 

OIG Response 

3  The budget line for Advocacy Coordinator under the 
Donor B grant was for a monthly salary of USD 900, 
which corresponds to the yearly Provident Fund of the 
staff member 

Another monthly salary received by Staff Member B in 
the amount of USD 1,000 as mentioned in the table 
(Annex 1, Figure 73) was a short-term contract with 
specific deliverables. 

There was no other donor budget line that supported 
position of Advocacy Coordinator for USD 450.  

Accepted with respect to the amount of 
the Donor B grant. 

OIG can neither confirm nor contradict 
MEDiCAM’s contentions with respect to 
the other sources of payment. 
 
Records obtained by OIG during its 
investigation reveal that an average of 
approximately USD 481 per month was 
charged to Donor C for advocacy work 
performed in 2009. 
 

4  Advocacy is one of the cross-cutting core businesses of 
MEDiCAM and cannot be implemented by just one staff 
member. Staff Members A and B worked together in 
assisting coordinating members and stakeholders. The 
Management Team including the Executive Director, 
Program Manager, and others were also actively 
involved.  

Assigning Staff Member A to the Advocacy Coordinator 
position gave her the opportunity of going beyond the 
role of Training Assistant and to lead and implement 
the advocacy capacity building for CSOs and 
MEDiCAM’s advocacy plan development and 
implementation. 

Regardless of whether Staff Members A 
and B worked together, MEDiCAM still 
intentionally misled the Global Fund to 
believe that she was filling the post of 
Training Assistant, as allocated for in 
the Global Fund budget. 
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 MEDiCAM comments and/or 
suggestions for amendment (08 
October 2012) 

MEDiCAM response and/or suggestions for 
amendment (17 July 2013) 

OIG Response 

5  Staff Member C, M&E and Capacity Building Manager, 
was managing all health related training activities from 
the beginning of the program (01 January 2009) till 30 
November 2011. 

From 01 January 2009 until end March 2010, his 
monthly salary was fully charged from the HIV/AIDS 
Coordinator post. 

From April 2010 to November 2011, his salary was 
charged from the Health-related trainer post budget, 
with some shared cost from MEDiCAM. 

The HIV/AIDS Coordinator was not recruited from the 
beginning because the Management team decided to 
allocate the post’s budget to the M&E and Capacity 
Building Manager which was occupied by Staff Member 
C. 

MEDiCAM admits that Staff Member C 
never fulfilled the role of HIV/AIDS 
Coordinator, yet it charged the Global 
Fund for this post as such.  Moreover, 
OIG identified two different contracts 
for this individual on MEDiCAM’s hard 
drive – again, for two separate jobs 
during the same time period (1 January 
2009 through 31 December 2009). 

A covered witness informed the OIG 
that Staff Member C did not perform 
any HIV/AIDS coordination work at 
MEDiCAM.  See OIG report ¶ 203. 

The job Staff Member C actually filled 
was that of “M&E Coordinator”, which 
was budgeted for under another 
international donor’s grant. 
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 MEDiCAM comments and/or 
suggestions for amendment (08 
October 2012) 

MEDiCAM response and/or suggestions for 
amendment (17 July 2013) 

OIG Response 

6  It is incorrect to say that there no work was conducted 
in relations to HIV/AIDS Coordination of CSOs.  

MEDiCAM’s Executive Director, Program Manager, 
Health Information Officer (also supported by the 
Global Fund HIV Round 7 grant) and the M&E and 
Capacity Building Manager worked very much together 
to support the implementation of all activities in the 
work plan of the grant. Almost all activities in the work 
plans were implemented (except for one which was 
requested to be undertaken the following quarter). 

 

OIG’s report states that a covered 
witness stated that Staff Member C did 
not perform any HIV/AIDS 
coordination work related to the Global 
Fund Round 7 grant.  See OIG report ¶ 
203.   

Indeed, the 2009 MEDiCAM 
organizational chart corroborates this 
fact as he is listed therein as the M&E 
Capacity Building Manager and not the 
HIV/AIDS Coordinator. 

The OIG report makes no findings with 
respect to the quality of the programs.  
OIG’s investigation reports on the 
misleading and conflicting information 
MEDiCAM provided it with when asked 
to explain how Global Fund money was 
used to fund certain positions.  
 

7  MEDiCAM did not double-bill another donor for Staff 
Member C’s salary as it did not charge this M&E 
position to another bilateral donor during 2009. 

It was only in early 2010 that MEDiCAM recruited 
another M&E Officer whose salary was then charged 
from that bilateral donor. 

The OIG did not conduct an inquiry into 
the other international donor’s grant, 
but the investigation determined that an 
amount of money was charged to that 
donor’s grant during 2009 under the 
“M&E Coordinator” staff description. 
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 MEDiCAM comments and/or 
suggestions for amendment (08 
October 2012) 

MEDiCAM response and/or suggestions for 
amendment (17 July 2013) 

OIG Response 

8  MEDiCAM agrees that it did not sufficiently and timely 
inform its respective donors of any changes to the 
budget line, and should have requested authorization 
from NCHADS-PR prior to doing so.  

MEDiCAM recognizes this is “mismanagement” or 
“missteps in the right direction”; however, it disagrees 
with OIG’s conclusion that MEDiCAM was intentionally 
defrauding OIG. 

MEDiCAM acknowledges some weaknesses in its 
financial management system in past years but a lot of 
things have improved such as separate company in their 
Quickbooks, separate vouchers, segregation of duties in 
financial team, improved internal control and some 
more. Furthermore, MEDiCAM continues to improve 
its system in order to ensure the safeguard of its donors’ 
funds and the transparent system. 

See OIG report section J.1.4 discussing 
MEDiCAM’s production of conflicting 
explanations and false documentary 
evidence as a way to intentionally 
mislead OIG to believe that the staff 
members were holding the positions for 
which MEDiCAM was charging the 
Global Fund. 
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Annex 7A: OIG Investigations Unit 

1. The Investigations Unit of the OIG is responsible for conducting investigations of alleged 
fraud, abuse, misappropriation, corruption and mismanagement (collectively, “fraud and 
abuse”) within Global Fund financed programs and by PRs and SRs, (collectively, “grant 
implementers”), CCMs and LFAs, as well as suppliers and service providers.1  

2. While the Global Fund does not typically have a direct relationship with the recipients’ 
suppliers, the scope of OIG’s work2 encompasses the activities of those suppliers with regard to 
the provision of goods and services. The authority required to fulfill this mandate includes 
access to suppliers’ documents and officials.3 The OIG relies on the cooperation of these 
suppliers to properly discharge its mandate.4 

3. OIG investigations aim to: (i) identify the specific nature and extent of fraud and abuse 
affecting Global Fund grants, (ii) identify the entities responsible for such wrongdoings, (iii) 
determine the amount of grant funds that may be compromised by fraud and abuse, and (iv) 
place the Organization in the best position to obtain recoveries through identification of the 
location or uses to which the misused funds have been put.  

4. OIG conducts administrative, not criminal, investigations. Its findings are based on facts 
and related analysis, which may include drawing reasonable inferences based upon established 
facts. Findings are established by a preponderance of credible and substantive evidence. All 
available evidence is considered by the OIG, including inculpatory and exculpatory 
information.5  

5. The OIG finds, assesses and reports on facts. On that basis, it makes determinations on 
the compliance of expenditures with the grant agreements and makes risk-prioritized 
recommendations. 

6. Such recommendations may notably include identification of expenses deemed non-
compliant for considerations of recovery, recommended administrative action related to grant 
management and recommendations for action under the Code of Conduct for Suppliers6 or the 
Code of Conduct for Recipients of Global Fund Resources7 (the “Codes”), as appropriate. The 
OIG does not determine how the Secretariat will address these determinations and 
recommendations. Nor does it make judicial decisions or issue sanctions.8  

7. Recommendations to the Secretariat primarily aim to help identify, mitigate and manage 
risks to the Global Fund and its recipients’ activities. The OIG defers to the Secretariat and, 
where appropriate, the recipients, their suppliers and/or the concerned national law 
enforcement agencies, for action upon the findings in its reports. 

                                                        
1 Charter of the Office of the Inspector General (19 March 2013), available at 
http://theglobalfund.org/documents/oig/OIG OfficeOfInspectorGeneral Charter en/, accessed 01 November 2013 
2013. 
2 Ibid., § 2, 9.5 and 9.7. 
3 Ibid., § 17.1 and 17.2. 
4 Global Fund Code of Conduct for Suppliers (15 December 2009), ¶ 17-18, available at 
http://theglobalfund.org/documents/corporate/Corporate CodeOfConductForSuppliers Policy en/, accessed 01 
November 2013. 
5 These principles comply with the Uniform Guidelines for Investigations, Conference of International Investigators, 
June 2009, available at http://www.un.org/Depts/oios/pages/uniformguidlines.html, accessed 01 November 2013. 
6 See fn. 4, supra. 
7 Code of Conduct for Recipients of Global Fund Resources (16 July 2012), available at 
http://theglobalfund.org/documents/corporate/Corporate_CodeOfConductForRecipients_Policy_en/, accessed 01 
November 2013. 
8 Charter of the Office of the Inspector General (19 March 2013), § 8.1 
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8. The OIG is an administrative body with no law enforcement powers. It cannot issue 
subpoenas or initiate criminal prosecutions. As a result, its ability to obtain information is 
limited to the rights conferred under the grant agreements, the terms of the Codes, and on the 
willingness of witnesses and other interested parties to voluntarily provide information.  

9. The OIG may also provide the Global Fund Board with an analysis of lessons learned for 
the purpose of understanding and mitigating identified risks to the grant portfolio related to 
fraud and abuse.  

10. Finally, the OIG may make referrals to national authorities for prosecution of any crimes 
or other violations of national laws, and supports such authorities as necessary throughout the 
process, as appropriate.9   

                                                        
9 See Code of Conduct for Recipients of Global Fund Resources (16 July 2012), § 8.3. 
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Annex 7B: Applicable Concepts of Fraud and Abuse 

11. As outlined in the previous section, the OIG bases its investigations on the contractual 
commitments undertaken by recipients and suppliers. It does so under the mandate set forth in 
its Charter to undertake investigations of allegations of fraud and abuse in Global Fund 
supported programs. As such, it relies on the definitions of wrongdoing set out in the applicable 
grant agreements with the Global Fund and the contracts entered into by the recipients with 
other implementing entities in the course of program implementation. 

12. Such agreements with SRs must notably include pass-through access rights and 
commitments to comply with the Codes. The Codes clarify the way in which recipients are 
expected to abide by the values of transparency, accountability and integrity which are critical to 
the success of funded programs. Specifically, the Code of Conduct for Recipients prohibits 
recipients from engaging in corruption, which includes the payment of bribes and kickbacks in 
relation to procurement activities.10 

13. The Codes notably provide the following definitions of the relevant concepts of 
wrongdoings: 

(i) “Anti-competitive practice” means any agreement, decision or practice which has as its 
objective or effect the restriction or distortion of competition in any market;  

(ii) “Collusive practice” means an arrangement between two or more persons or entities 
designed to achieve an improper purpose, including influencing improperly the actions of 
another person or entity;  

(iii) “Corrupt practice” means the offering, promising, giving, receiving, or soliciting, directly 
or indirectly, anything of value or any other advantage to influence improperly the actions of 
another person or entity;  

(iv) “Fraudulent practice” means any act or omission, including a misrepresentation that 
knowingly or recklessly misleads, or attempts to mislead, a person or entity to obtain a 
financial or other benefit or to avoid an obligation; and 

(v) “Misappropriation” is the intentional misuse or misdirection of money or property for 
purposes that are inconsistent with the authorized and intended purpose of the money or 
assets, including for the benefit of the individual, entity or person they favor, either directly 
or indirectly. 

14. The International Financial Institution Anti-Corruption Task Force provides similar 
definitions.11  

                                                        
10 Ibid., § 3.4. 
11 Uniform Framework for Preventing and Combating Fraud and Corruption, International Financial Institutions 
Anti-Corruption Task Force, September 2006, available at 
http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTDOII/Resources/FinalIFITaskForceFramework&Gdlines.pdf, accessed 01 
November 2013. 
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Annex 7C: Determination of Compliance 

15. The OIG presents factual findings which identify compliance issues by the recipients with 
the terms of the STCs12. Such compliance issues may have links to the expenditure of grant funds 
by recipients, which then raises the issue of the eligibility of these expenses for funding by the 
Global Fund. Such non-compliance is based on the provisions of the STCs. The OIG does not 
aim to conclude on the appropriateness of seeking refunds from recipients, or other sanctions 
on the basis of the provisions of the grant agreement. 

16. Various provisions of the STCs provide guidance on whether a program expense is eligible 
for funding by the Global Fund. It is worth noting that the principles described in this section 
apply to SRs as well as PRs.13 

17. At a very fundamental level, it is the PR’s responsibility “to ensure that all Grant funds are 
prudently managed and shall take all necessary action to ensure that Grant funds are used solely 
for Program purposes and consistent with the terms of this Agreement.”14  

18. In practice, this entails abiding by the activities and budgetary ceilings proposed in the 
Requests for Disbursement, which in turn must correspond to the Summary Budget(s) attached 
to Annex A of the Program Grant Agreement. While this is one reason for expenses to be 
ineligible, expending grant funds in contravention to other provisions of the grant agreement 
also results in a determination of non-compliance. 

19. Even when the expenses are made in line with approved budgets and work-plans, and 
properly accounted for in the Program’s books and records, such expenses must be the result of 
processes and business practices which are fair and transparent. 

20. The STCs specifically requires that the PR ensures that: (i) contracts are awarded on a 
transparent and competitive basis, […] and (iv) that the PR and its representatives and agents 
do not engage in any corrupt practices as described in Article 21(b) of the STCs in relation to 
such procurement.15  

21. The STCs explicitly forbid engagement in corruption or any other related or illegal acts 
when managing Grant Funds:  

“The Principal Recipient shall not, and shall ensure that no Sub-recipient or person 
affiliated with the Principal Recipient or any Sub-recipient […] participate(s) in any other 
practice that is or could be construed as an illegal or corrupt practice in the Host Country.”16 

22. Amongst prohibited practices is the rule that the PR, and any person affiliated with the 
PR, shall not “engage(s) in a scheme or arrangement between two or more bidders, with or 
without the knowledge of the Principal or Sub-recipient, designed to establish bid prices at 
artificial, non-competitive levels.”17  

23. The Global Fund’s Code of Conduct for Supplier and Code of Conduct for Recipients (the 
“Codes”) further provide for additional principles by which recipients and contractors must 
abide, as well as remedies in case of breaches of said fundamental principles of equity, integrity 
and good management. The Codes also provide useful definitions of prohibited conducts. 

                                                        
12 Global Fund’s Standard Terms and Conditions of the Program Grant Agreement (“STCs”) (2012.09), available at 
http://www.theglobalfund.org/documents/core/grants/Core StandardTermsAndConditions Agreement en/, 
accessed 01 November 2013. References are made to the current version of the STC for convenience and clarity. 
Different article numbers, or specific language, may have been applicable to the recipients at various times. 
13 Ibid., Art. 14(b).  
14 Ibid., Art. 9(a) and Art 18(f). 
15 Ibid., Art. 18(a). 
16 Ibid., Art. 21 (b). 
17 Ibid., Art. 21(b). 
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24.  As of 2010, the Code of Conduct for Suppliers has been integrated into the STCs through 
Article 21(d) under which the PR is obligated to ensure that the Global Fund’s Code of Conduct 
for Suppliers is communicated to all bidders and suppliers.18 It explicitly states that the Global 
Fund may refuse to fund any contract with suppliers found not to be in compliance with the 
Code of Conduct for Suppliers. Similarly, as of 2012, Article 21(e) provides for communication of 
the Code of Conduct for Recipients to all Sub-recipients, as well as mandatory application 
through the SR agreements. 

25. Principal Recipients are contractually liable to the Global Fund for the use of all grant 
funds, including expenses made by SRs and contractors.  

26. The factual findings made by the OIG following its investigation and summarized through 
this report can be linked to the prohibited conducts or other matters incompatible with the 
terms of the Program Grant Agreements.  

  

                                                        
18 Ibid., Art. 21(d). 
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Annex 7D: Reimbursements or Sanctions 

27. The Secretariat of the Global Fund is subsequently tasked with determining what 
management actions or contractual remedies will be taken in response to the OIG’s findings.  

28. Such remedies may notably include the recovery of funds compromised by contractual 
breaches. Article 27 of the STCs stipulates that the Global Fund may require the PR “to 
immediately refund to the Global Fund any disbursement of the Grant funds in the currency in 
which it was disbursed [in cases where] there has been a breach by the Principal Recipient of 
any provision of this (sic) Agreement […] or the Principal Recipient has made a material 
misrepresentation with respect to any matter related to this Agreement.”19  

29. According to Article 21(d), “in the event of non-compliance with the Code of Conduct, to 
be determined by the Global Fund in its sole discretion, the Global Fund reserves the right not to 
fund the contract between the Principal Recipient and the Supplier or seek the refund of the 
Grant funds in the event the payment has already been made to the Supplier.”20  

30. Additional sanctions, including with respect to Suppliers, may be determined pursuant to 
the Sanctions Procedure of the Global Fund, for breaches to the Codes. 

 

                                                        
19 Ibid., Art. 27(b) and (d). 
20 Ibid. 


